#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ALLEN STEWART, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case SC01-1998

No.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

Appellee.

:

\_\_\_\_\_;

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

A. ANNE OWENS

Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0284920

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

## TOPICAL

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record in this case is divided into two parts — the record documents and the penalty trial. Volumes I through IV contain the pleadings and other record documents. Volumes V, VI and VII contain the voir dire. Volumes VIII through XI contain the transcript of the penalty phase trial and sentencing hearings. Although there is a duplication of numbers in the record and the transcript, they are distinguishable because of the different volumes. References are to the volume, followed by the page numbers, separated by a slash. For example, the Indictment, which is in Volume 1 at page 18 is referenced as (1/18).

The issues in this brief are arranged in approximate chronological order and the arrangement has no bearing on the perceived merit of the issues.

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

On September 24, 1986, Kenneth Allen Stewart, was found guilty of murder in the first degree. The murder of Ruben Dario Diaz was alleged to have occurred on December 6, 1984. Following a penalty phase, in which

the jury recommended death, he was sentenced to death on October 3, 1986. Stewart v. State, 558 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1990). The trial court never wrote or filed a sentencing order. Id. Thus, his findings as to aggravating and mitigating factors were not revealed.

On March 15, 1990, this Court affirmed Stewart's conviction but vacated the death sentence and remanded for resentencing before a new jury because the court failed to instruct the jury on the impaired capacity mitigating factor, § 921.141(6)(f), Fla. Stat. (1989); Stewart, 558 So. 2d at 421. The court refused to reverse for a life sentence due to the lack of a sentencing order because the case was decided before this Court rendered its decision in Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833, 41 (Fla. 1988), requiring contemporaneous written findings.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the conclusion of the Court's opinion in <u>Stewart v.</u> <u>State</u>, 620 So. 2d 416 (Fla. 1993), Justice Barkett, Chief Justice, specially concurring, stated as follows:

I...continue to adhere to my original view that Stewart's sentence should have been commuted to life imprisonment pursuant to section 921.141(3), Florida Statutes (1983), which provides that "[i]f the court does not make the findings requiring the death sentence, the court shall impose sentence of life imprisonment." See Stewart v. State, 549 So.2d 171, 177-78 (Fla.1989) (Barkett, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part). The court made no written findings when the sentence was originally imposed. The clear and unambiguous language of the

Michael Jones, the court-appointed counsel who represented Stewart at his first trial, also represented him at the resentencing in October of 1990. The jury recommended death and Stewart was again sentenced to death on November 21, 1990. This Court affirmed the death sentence on appeal. Stewart v. State, 620 So. 2d 177 (Fla. 1993).

Stewart's attorneys from CCR filed a number of pleadings arguing, among other things, that Mike Jones, Stewart's prior defense counsel, rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. (1/21-144; 2/207-377) Upon deposition, Michael Jones (who resigned from the Florida Bar to avoid an investigation) admitted that he was using cocaine during Stewart's trials, and was ineffective when he represented Stewart during the second penalty hearing. On May 4, 2000 the State stipulated to a third penalty phase, and Judge William Fuente signed the Order. (3/447-638)

Stewart's third penalty proceeding was held March 20-21, 2001, Circuit Judge Barbara Fleisher presiding.

statute therefore mandates that we should have reduced Stewart's sentence to life.

(8/462) By a seven to five vote, the jury recommended death. (4/631) On May 31, 2001, the court held a "Spencer" hearing (11/1074), and sentenced Stewart to death August 6, 2001. (4/766-80; 11/1101-36)

Stewart filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (4/781)

The Public Defender for the Tenth Judicial Circuit was appointed to represent him in this appeal. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### State's Case

Hillsborough Sheriff's Deputy Luis, a homicide detective, recalled that, at about 2:00 in the morning of December 6, 1984, he was called to the scene of a homicide in a remote area in the Lutz area of Tampa. He observed the body of a white male lying face down along the edge of the road. The man had blood and brain matter on the left side of his head. (8/520-22) The victim was later identified as Ruben Dario Diaz. (8/525)

During the autopsy, Dr. Charles Diggs determined that Diaz died from a gunshot wound to the left temple which traversed the brain. He found a second gunshot

wound behind his right eye. Deputy Luis observed "stippling," or powder burns on the victim, indicating close proximity of the gun. (8/525-27) Cocaine metabolites were found in the victim's system.<sup>2</sup> (8/531)

Dr. Charles Diggs, the medical examiner, viewed the body of Ruben Diaz at the scene. He observed that the deceased, lying face down along the side of the road, had suffered gunshot wounds. Upon turning the victim over, Dr. Diggs observed stippling at the site of one of the wounds, indicating that the shot was fired at close range -- probably within a foot or so. (8/590-601)

When he performed the autopsy, Dr. Diggs found two bullet wounds. One was located right where the hairline met the forehead on the left side of the head. The direction of the wound was left to right, and downward from front to back. It penetrated both hemispheres of the brain, lodging at the bottom of the brain. The second wound was located behind the left ear. This wound went from left to right, upward, with a slight back to front angle. There was no stippling around the second

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Deputy Luis recalled that they searched the victim's room and found a baggie containing a white powdery substance -- possibly cocaine, and a grassy substance which appeared to be marijuana. Luis found a cocaine straw in the pocket of the jacket Diaz was wearing when he was found. (8/532-33)

wound, indicating that the shot was fired from at least a foot away. (8/602-08, 612) The angles of the gunshots showed that one came from above, to the left of the victim, and the other from the left front. Any number of scenarios could produce those angles, but the shooter must have been higher than the victim, shooting down. The wounds would have rendered Diaz immediately unconscious; both would have been fatal. (8/609-14)

Randall Bilbrey lived in Tampa for about a year in 1984. (8/536) He met Kenny Stewart at a convenience store where Stewart was begging for change to buy beer. Stewart and Bilbrey were homeless and lived on the streets and in the woods. Stewart drank a lot and was usually intoxicated. He also used marijuana. (8/540-43)

Stewart allegedly told Bilbrey at that time that he had run out of money, and that he and another man decided to rob someone. They located a nice car at a bar, went inside and found the owner of car. They left the bar with the car owner and ended up on a gravel road about five miles away. They forced the man out of his car and down onto the ground and took a small bottle of cocaine and some money from him. Stewart's accomplice

kept yelling at Stewart to "shoot him, shoot him."

Stewart shot the man twice. They left in the man's car, bought gasoline and some other things with the money, and burned the car at the mall.

Bilbrey could not recall Stewart's description of the victim other than that he looked Mexican or Cuban. (8/536-40) Defense counsel read into the record and to the jury testimony given by Randall Bilbrey at a hearing on March 19, 2001. When defense counsel asked Bilbrey if he recalled Stewart telling him that he had been drinking before the shooting occurred, Bilbrey said he did. He did not think Stewart said how much he had to drink, but said he was just drunk or had been drunk for a long time. (10/866)

Michelle Acosta testified that, late on the evening of April 13, 1985, she and her friend, Mark Harris, both in their early twenties, were returning from the beach in Michelle's car. While driving north on Nebraska Avenue in Tampa, it started to sprinkle. They saw a man, whom she identified as the defendant, hitchhiking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The victim's car was located by a deputy on his way to work that morning. He saw the car burning in the parking lot of the Floriland Mall in Tampa and called the fire department. (8/527-30)

Because it was raining, they made a U-turn to pick him up. Mark was in the passenger seat so opened the door and let Stewart in the back seat. Michelle said Stewart looked like a lost dog on the street, and was so drunk that his words were slurred. (8/555-58)

Stewart was not sure of his destination but was headed the way they were going. When they arrived at Fowler Avenue, they told him they were going to turn east and asked where he would like them to drop him off. Stewart said Fowler was all right. When they were at 22nd Street, Michelle pulled up to a gas station on the corner and told Stewart they would have to let him out because they were almost to their destination. Stewart asked if they could take him back a couple blocks.

Michelle thought it strange that he did not know where he wanted to go. (8/548-49)

Because they were in no hurry, they agreed to take him where he wanted to go. They went back to 15th

Street where Stewart told her to drop him off in front of a school. She pulled over in front of the school.

Stewart then said, "Don't move, I have a knife." She and Mark did not move; they were silent and petrified.

Michelle decided to do something, so put her foot on the

gas, then on the brake, to try to "get him off-centered" so she and Mark could jump out of the car and run. As soon as she put her foot on the gas, she felt a something hit her head, and felt pain. She heard two shots; then heard Stewart get out of the car and pull Mark out. He took her wrist and told her to get out of the car. (8/550-53)

Michelle had been shot in the back shoulder blade and hit over the head with the butt of a gun. She needed six stitches in her head. Mark was shot in the neck and was immediately paralyzed from the neck down. He lived for three weeks before dying, while still in the hospital, of pneumonia. (8/553-56)

James Harville testified that, in 1985, he managed a 7-11 in Hillsborough County. On April 18-19, 1985, he was working alone in the store. About 2:00 in the morning, two young men entered the store and approached the counter. The man directly in front of him stuck a pistol in his face and said, "This is a holdup." Before Harville could respond, he pulled the trigger. The

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  The jury was advised that Terry Lyn Smith, now deceased, told the police, after the shooting of Mr. Harville, that Stewart had ingested eight or nine beers before the shooting. (10/920)

gunshot struck him right between the eyes, knocking him unconscious. (8/619-21)

When he regained consciousness, he was unable to see because he was blinded by the blood in his eyes. He crawled along the counter to the telephone but could not see to dial. He sat down on the floor and began to pray for help. He heard the bell on the door jingle, and two men he knew found him lying there. (8/621-22)

The doctors advised his wife that they did not think he would live because he had lost so much blood. They said that, if he did live, he would be paralyzed the rest of his life. Gunshot fragments had blown up inside his head and would remain there permanently. Amazingly, Harville not only made it through the night but was released from the hospital in a week, with no permanent damage. (8/622)

Janine Diaz, the victim's teen-aged niece, read a victim impact statement prepared by the victim's brother and two sisters, telling what a wonderful brother Ruben Diaz was, how he was the center of their family, how devastated they were by his murder, and how they continued to miss him. (9/660-72) In accordance with a stipulation between the parties, the jury was informed

that Ruben Diaz transported drugs between Miami and Tampa; and that he sold drugs in Tampa for some period preceding his death." (10/920)

#### Defense Case

Susan Smith Moore, age 38, Kenneth Stewart's stepsister from South Carolina, testified that she first met "Kenny," who was a year younger that she, when they were four or five years old. Her mother was dating Bruce Scarpo who raised Kenny. She soon moved into the Scarpo household with her mother, her older sister and her brother. Susan thought Kenny was Bruce Scarpo's natural son until she was ten or eleven years old. (9/673-75)

They lived in a large house in Charleston. Scarpo was a bar owner and bookmaker, or "bookie," and made a good living. The atmosphere in the home was tense, however, because there was a lot of violence. Bruce Scarpo was violent, sometimes on a daily basis, toward his family and others. Even when there was no violence, the atmosphere was tense because they never knew when their stepfather would erupt. It was like walking on eggshells because they never knew what might "set him off." It could be something major or minor, such as

someone not flushing the toilet. (9/675, 679-80)

When Scarpo beat the girls, he would make them bend over, sometimes drop their pants, and he would beat them with a belt. When he beat the boys, it was as if they were grown men. He would beat them with his fists. They were not allowed to defend themselves. (9/680-81)The children were also disciplined by restrictions such as solitary confinement. They were only allowed out of their rooms to work or go to school, and for dinner. times, the children were not fed while restricted to their rooms. When that happened, the other children would sneak food to the restricted child. They were not encouraged to be close because their stepfather would "play one against the other," by telling one of them that one of the others had told on him or her, or would be beaten if he or she did not confess to something. Because the children were encouraged to tell on one another, they tried to stay apart so they would not know what the others were doing. (9/681-83) Susan played with Kenny more than the others because of the similar ages. They had no friends other than kids that knew about their environment through their parents -- usually bar customers. (9/689)

Bruce Scarpo owned several nightclubs in Charleston. The Scarpo children were expected to clean up the bars Sunday mornings when they were closed. Their stepfather brought bar customers home in the afternoons, before the bars opened. When the bars closed at 2:00 a.m., he would bring home the people left in the bar, awaken the children, and require them to get up and cook breakfast for his guests. Sometimes Susan was awakened at night to get up and "deal" cards. Mr. Scarpo and his guests were always drunk and sometimes "barroom brawls" would break out at their house. 5 (9/683-85)

Sometimes the children went to Scarpo's bars at night to work and take out trash. The bars were crowded, rowdy and had bands. Everyone was drinking or drunk. They were sometimes violent. One afternoon, Susan's birthday party was held in a bar, during which Bruce Scarpo was stabbed and almost died. (9/685-86)

Bruce Scarpo was always armed. He had an extensive gun collection in the home and was armed with a pistol.

On Sundays, he had poker and football parties at their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Kenny's older stepsister, Linda, testified similarly. She said that, when her parents wanted to close the bar, they brought all the drunks home with them. They would awaken the children to get up and make breakfast and to serve drinks. If these "drunks" made remarks that set Bruce off, he would get in a fight. (9/724)

house. The children bartended at these parties.

(9/682-85) At one point, Bruce Scarpo served time in prison for racketeering, in connection with counterfeiting and book making. (9/690-91)

The children were encouraged to drink alcohol. They had wine with Sunday dinner even as small children. Scarpo told them he would rather they drink at home than sneak away and get in trouble. They had beer on tap at the house and always had a stocked bar. She and Kenny often bartended and would taste the drinks they made. Kenny started drinking alcohol at age four or five. He was caught sneaking liquor out of the house when he was about nine years old, to take it to school. (9/696-97)

Susan's mother, Joanne, and Bruce Scarpo usually slept during the day if they were home. They got up several hours before the bars opened and usually all ate dinner together. That was the only time they were all together. The atmosphere at dinner was tense. The children were afraid to talk during dinner because they never knew what would "set him off." (9/686-88)

When the parents were gone, they usually had maids or house-keepers in the house, most of whom were mean to the children. They did not last long in the Scarpo home because Mr. Scarpo would soon accuse them of stealing money lying around the house and, in one instance, the newspaper, and would fire them. (9/688)

Susan's mother was also beaten in front of the children many times. Sometimes Mr. Scarpo wanted them to watch and other times she and Kenny watched without his knowledge from the other side of the louvered door between their bedrooms and the living room. They never knew how the beatings would affect them, or if their mother would leave, and did not want to be left behind. (9/692-93)

On two occasions, Susan and her mother left the Scarpo home. She was about eleven the first time. They hid out with friends in Charleston who did not know Bruce Scarpo; then went to Arizona and stayed with relatives of her mother whom Bruce did not know. They believed that if he found them, he would kill them.

(9/690-92) Eventually, they returned home. When Susan was thirteen, her mother left again. Susan jumped out of her bedroom window and followed her. They stayed with relatives in Arizona. (9/693-94)

Susan described Kenny, when he was a child, as "mischievous" and "quiet," and "solemn." He was a clown

when they had company, but when no one was around, tried to hide and stay out of the way, as did the other children. Kenny was hyperactive when older. He had a lisp and mumbled a lot, making him hard to understand. He had a bedwetting problem and sometimes could not cope. (9/697-98)

Kenny was first punished for wetting the bed by having to sleep with no sheets, or having to take the sheets off the bed and wash them. Later, he was beaten and made to sit on his bed naked for hours and hours at a time. Mr. Scarpo seemed to perceive Kenny's bedwetting as a personal insult because he could not control it. (9/698)

They had a number of dogs as children, and a pony and some other animals. Kenny was nurturing and gentle with animals. He and Susan tried to help animals when they found them sick or injured. They had a burial ground in the yard. Kenny and Susan would have burial services when an animal died. (9/702-03)

Bruce Scarpo was mean to the animals and would beat and kick the dogs. One of the dogs became mean. He was put in a kennel where he "ripped the saliva glands out of the U.P.S. man," and attacked a kennel employee.

When Kenny became especially close to one of the dogs, Mr. Scarpo kicked the dog around and ended up shooting him. Kenny was upset, of course. (9/699-701)

During their childhood, Kenny believed Bruce Scarpo was his biological father, as did all the children. Kenny would talk about "his dad" being tough, and would stick up for "his dad" if someone wronged him. When he finally learned that Scarpo was not really his father, he was devastated. He went to Florida to stay with his maternal grandmother. Not long after Kenny left home, Susan ran away to a runaway shelter, and then lived with her brother, Jay. (9/703-05) The first time Susan told anyone about the abuse was at the runaway shelter. Until she sought counseling, she believed that all children were treated the way they were treated. (9/712-Because of her childhood, Susan still had a hard 13) time trusting people or building relationships. She had been married four times and had been in and out of therapy all her life. (9/689-90)

During the past several years, Susan had corresponded with Kenny and visited him in prison. She intended to continue her contact with him because "he's my brother and I love him." Susan testified that her

mother and Bruce Scarpo later had two children together. Susan maintained contact with these children, who lived in Charleston. Scarpo and Susan's mother are deceased. (9/705-07)

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