IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH ALLEN STEWART,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC01-1998

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

RICHARD E. DORAN ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
Senior Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0503843
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
Phone: (813) 801-0600
Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Stewart is not entitled to any relief in this appeal. His claim that the trial court erred in denying the defense request for a special jury instruction on nonstatutory mitigation has been repeatedly rejected by this Court. His allegations that Florida's death penalty is unconstitutional facially and as applied in his case have also been rejected, and no reasonable basis to reconsider prior decisions denying these claims has been offered.

Stewart's allegation that the court below failed to allocate sufficient weight to the mitigation evidence presented is similarly without merit. As this Court has recognized, the trial judge bears the responsibility for determining the appropriate weight of mitigation, and no abuse of discretion in the findings entered below has been demonstrated.

A review of other cases in which the death penalty has been imposed refutes Stewart's claim that his sentence is not proportional. This was a heavily aggravated murder which, contrary to Stewart's assertions, was not greatly mitigated. No error has been shown with regard to the imposition of the death sentence in this case, and no relief is warranted.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENSE REQUEST FOR A SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTION ON NONSTATUTORY MITIGATION.

Stewart's first claim challenges the trial court's ruling refusing a defense request for a special jury instruction on the nonstatutory mitigating evidence. The denial of a requested instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Darling v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 145, 163 (Fla. 2002).

The record reflects that, in this case, the jury was thoroughly and accurately instructed on its penalty phase responsibilities in accordance with all relevant authority (V11/1036-1048). Stewart asked the court for an additional instruction, specifically enumerating the multiple nonstatutory mitigating circumstances sought by the defense (V4/620-21]; V9/821-85). He asserted this instruction was necessary because it was the theory of his defense, but did not argue that it would affect the weight of the nonstatutory mitigation in the eyes of the jury. The denial of this request was proper.

This Court has repeatedly held that the standard jury instruction on nonstatutory mitigating circumstances is sufficient, and there is no need to give a separate instruction on each item of nonstatutory mitigation. Gore v. State, 706 So.

2d 1328, 1334 (Fla. 1997); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1349 (Fla. 1997); James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997); Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 684 (Fla. 1995). Stewart relies on Justice Anstead's concurring opinion in Downs v. Moore, 801 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 2001), as authority for requiring the instruction in this case, but neglects to mention that this Court has directly rejected his claim in a number of other cases. Notwithstanding Justice Anstead's concerns, the judge below followed the law, and Stewart has not offered any reasonable basis to find an abuse of discretion in this ruling. Stewart's speculation that the jury would improperly embark on a counting process in the absence of his requested instruction is unwarranted; his jury was accurately and adequately advised on how to reach its recommendation, and juries are presumed to follow such instructions.

In <u>Boyde v. California</u>, 494 U.S. 370 (1990), the United States Supreme Court considered a similar issue on a case out of California. The challenged jury instruction advised the jurors to consider eleven factors in determining whether to impose a sentence of life or death. The last of these factors was "Any other circumstance which extenuates the gravity of the crime even though it is not a legal excuse for the crime." This was the only factor that even remotely suggested that the jury could

consider evidence about the defendant's character or background in mitigation of the offense. Boyde claimed that the jury instructions interfered with the jury's obligation to consider all relevant mitigating evidence, since the factor could be interpreted as limiting the jury's consideration to evidence related to the crime rather than the perpetrator. The Supreme Court rejected Boyde's claim, holding that there was no reasonable likelihood that the jury applied the instruction in a way that prevented the consideration of constitutionally relevant evidence. Boyde, 494 U.S. at 380.

Similarly, the denial of the jury instruction in this case did not preclude the jury from considering any relevant evidence. In light of the clear case law denying this claim, Stewart has failed to demonstrate any error in the trial court's ruling on his request for a special instruction on nonstatutory mitigation. He is not entitled to any relief on this issue.

ISSUE II

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS FACIALLY UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Stewart next asserts that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional. Citing Ring v. Arizona, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002), Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466 (2000), and Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227 (1999), he claims that the sentencing scheme violated his constitutional rights to due process and a jury trial. This Court's review is de novo; however, Stewart's allegations do not present any basis for relief. This Court has declined to invalidate Florida's capital sentencing law based on Ring. Bottoson v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S891 (Fla. Oct. 24, 2002).

It must be noted initially that this issue has not been preserved for appellate review, and therefore this claim should be rejected as procedurally barred. Although, as Stewart notes, a defendant may challenge the facial constitutionality of a statute for the first time on appeal when the argument presents a claim of fundamental error, the current allegation of a Ring and/or Apprendi violation would not amount to fundamental error even if this Court were to find that those decisions were not fully satisfied on the facts of this case. In Maddox v. State, 760 So. 2d 89, 95-96 (Fla. 2000), this Court noted several different definitions for fundamental error, including "error that goes to the foundation of the case," "error which reaches

down into the validity of the trial itself," and error "where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application," none of which is implicated on the facts of this case. In addition, this Court has repeatedly recognized that not all errors of "constitutional magnitude" constitute fundamental error. State v. T.G., 800 So. 2d 204, 212 (Fla. 2001); Maddox, 760 So. 2d at 100 (quoting Judge v. State, 596 So. 2d 73, 79 n. 3 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)).

In <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 794 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 2001), this Court found an alleged <u>Apprendi</u> error had not been preserved for appellate review. The United States Supreme Court has also held that an <u>Apprendi</u> claim is not plain error. <u>United States v. Cotton</u>, 122 S. Ct. 1781 (2002) (holding an indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an <u>Apprendi</u> error but it did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). These cases confirm that any possible constitutional violation under <u>Apprendi</u> is not "fundamental error" warranting judicial review of an unpreserved claim.

¹Ring is merely an extension of <u>Apprendi</u>. Clearly, the application of <u>Apprendi</u> was limited to (1) factual findings, other than prior conviction, (2) which increase the statutory maximum for a charged offense. Because the Arizona Supreme Court interpreted its law as prescribing only a life sentence upon conviction for first-degree murder, <u>Ring</u>, 122 S.Ct. at 2436; <u>Ring v. State</u>, 25 P.3d 1139, 1150 (Ariz. 2001), <u>Ring</u> fits squarely within the <u>Apprendi</u> holding, and thus, the <u>Ring</u> decision does not extend or expand the Sixth Amendment right at issue in <u>Apprendi</u>.

Even if Apprendi error could be deemed fundamental in some contexts, the present case does not provide the facts for such a conclusion here. Stewart fails to acknowledge that, due to the existence of his "prior violent felony conviction" aggravating factor, the judge was authorized to impose the death penalty even if additional jury findings may be deemed necessary in the context of other cases. See Bottoson, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S898; S900 (J. Shaw, concurring; J. Pariente, concurring). is undisputed that Stewart's judge properly found the existence of the prior conviction factor, and therefore no additional jury findings were required with regard to Stewart's eligibility to receive the death penalty. Almendarez-Torres v. <u>United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224 (1998) (prior conviction properly enhance defendant's used by judge alone to statutorily authorized punishment). Since the defect alleged to invalidate the statute - lack of jury findings to enhance the sentence - is not implicated in this case due to the existence of the prior conviction, Stewart has no standing to challenge any potential error in the application of the statute on other facts.

If Stewart had no prior conviction, his sentence would still be constitutionally valid. According to Stewart, Florida's capital statute is constitutionally flawed due to its failure to require that a "death qualifying aggravating factor" be alleged in the indictment and expressly found by a jury. This argument is premised on a fundamental misunderstanding of Florida law. In Ring, the United States Supreme Court applied Apprendi to invalidate Arizona's capital sentencing scheme, which required a judge, acting alone, to determine a capital defendant's eligibility for the death penalty. In Florida, unlike Arizona, death eligibility is determined by the jury upon conviction for first degree murder. See Bottoson, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S893; S902 (J. Quince, concurring; J. Lewis, concurring); Shere v. Moore, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S752, S754 (Fla. Sept. 12, 2002) (statutory maximum sentence for first degree murder is death); Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 538 (Fla.), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 1015 (2001) (same). Ring is not applicable in Florida because capital punishment is not an "enhanced" sentence for first degree murder; accordingly, no further jury findings are required.

Thus, Stewart's argument that an aggravating factor must be alleged in the indictment and expressly found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt is without merit, as the existence of an aggravating factor is a determination that concerns the defendant's selection for capital punishment, rather than his eligibility for the death penalty. Clearly, Ring does not require jury findings for sentencing, only for eligibility. As Justice Scalia stated, Ring "has nothing to do with jury sentencing." Ring, 122 S.Ct. at 2445. Apprendi and Ring

involve the jury's role in determining death eligibility, but do not require that the actual selection of sentence be made by a jury. Quoting Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 252 (1976), Ring acknowledged that "[i]t has never [been] suggested that jury sentencing is constitutionally required." Ring, 122 S.Ct. at 2447, n.4. Rather, Ring involves only the requirement that the jury find the defendant death eligible. That determination must be made by the jury, while the actual sentencing decision may constitutionally be made by the trial court. See Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 459 (1984) (finding Sixth Amendment has no guarantee of right to jury trial on issue of sentence).

In addition, even if an aggravating factor is construed to determine eligibility rather than selection, the suggestion that it must be charged in the indictment has no basis in law. This claim has been repeatedly rejected. See Hildwin v. State, 531 So. 2d 124, 128 (Fla. 1988) (rejecting claim that Florida law makes aggravating factors into elements of the offense so as to make the defendant death-eligible), aff'd., 490 U.S. 638 (1989); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983) (aggravating circumstances do not need to be charged in indictment). In addition, United States Supreme Court precedent does not support

²See <u>Harris v. Alabama</u>, 513 U.S. 504, 515 (1995) (holding that "[t]he Constitution permits the trial judge, acting alone, to impose a capital sentence. It is thus not offended when a State further requires the sentencing judge to consider a jury's recommendation and trusts the judge to give it the proper weight.)

Stewart's position. <u>Hurtado v. California</u>, 110 U.S. 516 (1984) (holding there is no requirement for an indictment in state capital cases). <u>Apprendi</u> did not address the indictment issue. <u>Apprendi</u>, 530 U.S. at 477, n.3. <u>Ring</u> similarly did not address the issue, and although <u>Ring</u>, in part, overruled <u>Walton v. Arizona</u>, 497 U.S. 639 (1990), this claim was rejected by this Court prior to <u>Walton</u> being decided and does not, in any way, rely on <u>Walton</u> for support. Therefore, <u>Ring</u> does not compel further consideration of this issue.

Thus, Stewart's death sentence satisfies the Sixth Amendment as construed in Ring. His prior violent felony convictions permitted the judge to impose a capital sentence, even without jury involvement. In addition, by returning a recommendation for death, his jury necessarily found beyond a reasonable doubt that at least one statutory aggravating factor existed. Ring merely requires a jury, rather than a judge acting alone, make the determination of certain factors and that those factors be established beyond a reasonable doubt. These requirements have been met in this case. Stewart had a penalty phase jury which heard evidence related to aggravation and mitigation. The jury was instructed that the aggravators had to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Following the instructions, Stewart's jury recommended a death sentence. Clearly, aggravation was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. See Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638

(1989) (holding that where jury made a sentencing recommendation of death it necessarily engaged in the factfinding required for imposition of a higher sentence, that is, the determination that at least one aggravating factor had been proved). Because the finding of an aggravating factor clearly authorized the imposition of a death sentence, the requirement that a jury determine the conviction to have been a capital offense is fulfilled.

Stewart's speculation that the jury may have disagreed as to which aggravating factors existed, or "completely disregarded" the instructions to consider aggravating factors, Jurors are presumed to follow the court's is unwarranted. instructions, and jurors are not required to agree on different theories of liability. See Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624 (1991) (jury need not agree on alternative theories jurors conclude at That seven least one aggravator exists is more than is constitutionally required.

In conclusion, aggravating factors in Florida are not elements of the offense, but are constitutionally mandated capital sentencing guidelines. Florida's capital sentencing scheme affords the sentencer the guidelines to follow in determining the various sentencing selection factors related to the offense and the offender by providing accepted statutory aggravating factors and mitigating circumstances to be

considered. Given that a defendant faces the statutory maximum sentence of death upon conviction of first degree murder, the employment of further proceedings to examine the assorted "sentencing selection factors," does not violate due process. The plain language of Apprendi and Ring establishes that those cases come into play when a defendant is exposed to a penalty exceeding the maximum allowable under the jury's verdict. Because Stewart was death eligible upon conviction, Ring does not invalidate his death sentence or render Florida's sentencing scheme unconstitutional.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING STEWART'S MOTION TO DISMISS, WHICH ALLEGED THAT FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT PERMITS A JURY RECOMMENDATION BY A BARE MAJORITY.

Stewart's next claim asserts that the trial court erred in denying his motion to dismiss, which alleged that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional because it permits a jury to return a recommendation for death by a "bare majority" vote. This Court's review is de novo. This Court has repeatedly rejected this claim, and Stewart has not provided any reasonable basis for reconsideration of the issue. See Bottoson, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S893; S902 (J. Quince, concurring; J. Lewis, concurring); Card v. State, 803 So. 2d 613, 629, n.13 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 122 S. Ct. 2673 (2002); Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923, 937 (Fla. 2000); Thompson v. State, 648 So. 2d 692, 698 (Fla. 1994); Brown v. State, 565 So. 2d 304, 308 (Fla.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 992 (1990).

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